
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a City Council Meeting on 
Monday, September 20, 2021, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
 
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
5. Minutes –  

a. City Council Regular Meeting August 23, 2021 
b. City Council Regular Meeting September 7, 2021 
c. City Council Special Meeting September 14, 2021 

6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 
a. Appointment to the Nylander Board of Trustees 

7. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
a.  Ordinance No. 16, 2021 Series, Chapter 20 Riverfront Development Committee 

8. Reports by Staff and Committees 
a. Financial Reports for August 2021 
b. Dangerous Buildings List 
c. Manager’s report 
d. Municipal Building Committee: update on Nylander Museum water damage 
e. Police Station Committee 

9. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions  
a. Introduction of Ordinance No. 19, 2021 Series, Chapter 21 Remote Participation Policy 
b. City Council consent agreement with Troy Haney re: Kacie’s Place Campground 

10. Old Business 
11. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 
12. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a. Caribou Professional Fire Fighters Association, IAFF Local 5191, request for impact bargaining (Personnel 
item under §405.6.A) 

b. Caribou City Manager contract (Personnel item under §405.6.A) 
13. Next Regular Meetings: October 4 & 18, November 1, 15 & 29 
14. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

Pages: 02 – 13 
Pages: 14 – 15 
Pages: 16 – 19 
 
Pages: 20 – 22 

Pages: 23 – 27 

Pages: 28 – 53 
Pages: 54 – 81 
Pages: 82 – 83 
 
 
 
Pages: 84 – 92 
Pages: 93 – 95 
 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council Meeting on Monday, August 23, 2021, in the Council 
Chambers with the following members present; Councilors Boma, Goughan, Morrell, Theriault, Willey 
and Deputy Mayor Ayer.  Mayor Smith was absent and excused.  

Penny Thompson, Interim City Manager was present at the meeting.   

Department managers Kenneth G Murchison (Zoning Administrator), Gary Marquis (Supt. Of Parks and 
Recreation), Christina Kane-Gibson (Events & Marketing Director), and Peter Baldwin (Librarian). Carl 
Grant (Tax Collector) was present via Zoom. 

Hannah Catlin of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via Spectrum 
and YouTube.  

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Deputy Mayor Ayer read an invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Deputy Mayor Ayer led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

Sandra Haines the Chairperson of Recovery Aroostook: 

It’s Grass Roots Recovery Community Organization that was formed 11 years ago.  It was formed to help 
support recovery after a wave of substance use related overdoses rocketed our city.  Their mission is to 
support recovery through fundraisers, education, awareness, and community engagement. She stated that 
they partner with the Center for Advancement of Rural Livings Multiyear building communities of 
recovery grant.  Their goals are to promote long-term recovery success and reduce the stigma surrounding 
the recovery community and those with substance abuse disorder.     

Dawn Guzman – 544 Van Buren Road: 

She stated that she was served with a paper to vacate because the town now owns the trailer.  She stated 
that her ex-boyfriend had previously owned the trailer.  She explained that she has made many 
improvements since taking the trailer over and she had assumed that he had filled out the paper for the 
taxes and that he hadn’t.  She would like to be able to buy the trailer back and clean up the violations.  
She is asking if she can stay there until at least the 7th so that when she gets her check on the first, then 
she can find a place.   

Deputy Mayor Ayer explained that she should contact the Interim City Manager to discuss the situation. 

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

a.  Amend July 26, 2021 meeting minutes 

Motion made by Councilor Boma, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the amendments to the July 
26, 2021 meeting minutes.   

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - 
Yes, T. Ayer - Yes, (So voted) 

2



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 2 

b.  City Council Regular Meeting August 9, 2021 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the minutes from August 9, 
2021, adding the word taxes to the motion in 10D to abate the taxes at 30 North Street. 

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - 
Yes, T. Ayer - Yes, (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  National Recovery Monthly 2021 Proclamation 

Councilor Boma read the National Recovery Month 2021 Proclamation 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the National Recovery 
Month 2021 Proclamation.  

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

a.  Ordinance No. 15, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment – Public Library Committee vacancies 

Public Hearing Open:  6:19p.m. 

There were no comments from the public 

Close Public Hearing at 6:20 p.m. 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  Presentation from Artifex on proposed Police Station facility 

Ellen Angel an engineer from Artifex was present and Gary Campbell was present via Zoom.   

Ms. Angel presented information regarding our current police department and the history.  The police 
department has been in the basement since 1952.  Ames Associates started in 2017 looking at options for 
the department.  In 2021 different sites were looked at in the community to try to see what would meet the 
needs for the community and facility.  Sites that were looked at were the Birdseye site, Washburn Street 
and Water Street. Some of the objectives that they have are longevity, operational efficiency, durable yet 
flexible, safe yet inviting.   

The new facilities would need to handle interview rooms, prisoner handling, child molestation cases, drug 
processing, an armory and safe evidence handling & storage.   

Mr. Campbell explained that they look at five categories, Command Space, Operations, Patrol where they 
can drive in to lessen the chances of the person potentially running away, Evidence/Lab for processing, 
storage, decontamination and, Common spaces which would have the locker rooms, showers, fitness 
areas and storage areas.    

Ms. Angel explained that they have produced a floor plan and stated that the suggested site would be the 
Birdseye site.  This site provides space for in and out traffic, area to park, access to utilities and there is no 
loss in tax because it is already City owned.   

The area would provide a fifty-foot standoff from the public drive and the building for security.  The site 
has excess area that could also be developed in the future for additional items.  The estimated total 
construction is $9,500,840.   

3



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 3 

Councilor Theriault asked if we are going to try to get this to the November ballot.  She stated that she 
would like to put it to ballot as not to exceed $10,000,000.   

Deputy Mayor Ayer stated that he believes that the best spot would be where the trailer park was on Main 
Street.   

Ms. Angel explained that costs are rising and that the longer that you wait the more the project could cost.   

Deputy Mayor Ayer explained that we shouldn’t put a dollar amount on it, just leave it at councils’ 
discretion to be determined.  

Councilor Boma explained that “not to exceed” means that you do not have to use it all.  

Councilor Morrell stated that he has seen this before and all the funds that have been approved in the past 
all the money has been used and or exceeded in the past.  

Deputy Mayor Ayer stated that what he wants to see is that you do it once and do it right.   

Ms. Angel explained that cuts can happen, but you cannot cut into the bone. She is suggesting that you 
get something on the table.   

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Boma to put it on November’s referendum 
– Shall the City of Caribou build a police station not to exceed nine million dollars at a site to be 
determined at a later date.  

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – No, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - Yes, 
T. Ayer - No, (Motion failed) 

Councilor Morrell stated that he doesn’t believe that they should be trying to pick a number at this time.   

Deputy Mayor Ayer stated that he would like to see it go to referendum, but he does not want to put a 
number to it.   

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Boma – Shall the City of Caribou build a 
police station not to exceed eight million dollars at a site to be determined. 

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – No, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - Yes, 
T. Ayer - No, (Motion failed) 

b.  Financial Report for July 2021 

Carl Grant, Treasurer reviewed the July 2021 Financial Report. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the July 2021 Financial 
Report as presented.  

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - 
Yes, T. Ayer - No, (So voted) 

c.  CS Management / BRSA request re: Mecon Street 

Kenneth Murchison explained that they have been approached by Tim Roix from BRSA Engineering on 
behalf of CS Management for the project on 60 Mecon Street. What they would like or have requested is 
that we convey the lands of Mecon Street.  This is a strange road in that it goes up into their driveway and 

4



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 4 

leaves out of the corner of the driveway back to their lot.  He stated that it is so odd in fact that we can not 
prove that it is a city way or a public way at all.   

Interim Manager Thompson explained that the original plan of the City that we are showing it as just a 40 
foot right of way for utilities. She believes that it would not need to be discontinued because it is not a 
street.   

Councilor Morrell stated that we should table the discussion until we can get it figured out and know what 
we are talking about.  

Interested parties were not in attendance at the meeting, discussion will be scheduled for a later date.  

d.  Manager’s Report 

Interim Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated August 20, 2021. 

Interim Manager Thompson explained that she is going to be away for a conference and needs to appoint 
an acting City Manager in her absence and would like to appoint Chief Michael Gahagan.   

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to appoint Chief Michael Gahagan 
as the acting manager in the absence of the Interim Manager Thompson.  

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - 
Yes, T. Ayer - Yes, (So voted) 

e.  RFQ for Caribou Municipal Airport General Consultant / Airport Engineer 

The RFQ for Caribou Municipal Airport General Consultant / Airport Engineer will be discussed at the 
meeting on September 7, 2021. 

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Introduction of Ordinance No. 16, 2021 Series, Chapter 20 Riverfront Development Committee 

Councilor Morrell asked, in appointing this development committee in no way ties the city’s hands to 
spending money.  

Kenneth Murchison explained that there is no money attached to this, basically decisions would come 
back to council and would ask for council guidance.   

Councilor Theriault introduced Ordinance No. 16, 2021 Series, Chapter 20 Riverfront Development 
Committee.  

b.  Discussion / Possible Introduction of Ordinance No. 17, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment, Amending 
the Capital Improvement Referendum Process 

Councilor Morrell stated that through the years 1,000-1,500 people have been able to steer the City’s 
direction on large spends and whatever side of the aisle you are on for spending or not spending, it is the 
council’s job on this.   

Interim Manager Thompson explained that we have been looking at the numbers of registered voters to 
voter turnout.  

5



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 5 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk explained that there are currently 5,683 voters registered in the City of 
Caribou and the process of a voter being inactive and how long it takes for them to come off the list.  She 
explained that a typical November election has closer to 1,100 voters.   

Councilor Theriault explained that 65% is not fitting, we would never get the numbers and it is not 
realistic.  

Councilor Boma stated that she feels as if people do not want to vote for something they can come vote 
against it.   

Councilor Theriault explained that she has worked at the polls before and with these figures at least 3,500 
would have to come in and vote, and maybe 200-300 on the June ballot.  The only time you reach those 
numbers is when there is a large presidential election that is controversial and if we go with this, we will 
never get anything purchased for the city, such as a fire truck.  

Councilor Morrell stated that as elected officials they would need to go to the people door to door and 
explain what the plans are.   

Interim Manager Thompson summed up the conversation that 65% of the registered voters would need to 
come out and vote and simple majority would pass the referendum on that day.   

Councilor Morrell introduced Ordinance No. 17, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment, Amending the Capital 
Improvement Referendum Process 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

a.  Ordinance No. 13, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment, Filling Council Vacancies (June 2022) 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to approve Ordinance No. 13, 2021 
Series, Charter Amendment, Filling Council Vacancies, and place on the June 2022 ballot.   

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - 
Yes, T. Ayer - Yes, (So voted) 

b.  Ordinance No. 14, 2021, Series, Charter Amendment, Employee Political Activities (November 2021) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Councilor Willey to approve Ordinance No. 14, 2021, 
Series, Charter Amendment, Employee Political Activities, and place on the November 2021 ballot.  

Ordinance No. 14, 2021, Series, Charter Amendment, Employee Political Activities 

c.  Ordinance No. 15, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment, Public Library Committee vacancies (June 2022) 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to approve Ordinance No. 15, 2021 
Series, Charter Amendment, Public Library Committee vacancies and place on the June 2022 ballot.   

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - 
Yes, T. Ayer - Yes, (So voted) 

d.  Tax-acquired property #23 from bid list (tabled from last meeting) 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to sell the property #23 – 16 Sincock 
Street to Maine Equity Builders, LLC (Christopher Poirier) for the bid amount of $4,800.  

6



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 6 

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – No, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - Yes, 
T. Ayer - No, (Motion failed) 

Council advised that the property should go back out to bid.   

e.  Discussion of Nylander Museum 

Interim Manager Thompson explained that on Thursday the sprinkler system compressor was installed in 
the morning.  When the Nylander board went for the meeting at 6:00 p.m. they heard water and there was 
water coming from the ceiling of the North Gallery.  The sprinkler system had been tripped between 2:30 
and 6:00 p.m.  At that time the board contacted the fire department and city officials who contacted the 
sprinkler repair company.   

Power has been restored to the building, along with water and dehumidifiers are on the way as well.   

Council stated that at this time there should be limited access to the building to Dave Ouellette until the 
adjusters come in to assess the damage.   

Gail Hagelstein came to speak regarding the Nylander.  She stated that she would like to thank many 
entities and people.  They would like to thank the fire department, police department, city manager for 
being cool, calm, and professional, Councilor Theriault.  She explained that she did go in on Saturday and 
took pictures.  She explained that when the items from the North gallery are moved it would make it 
almost impossible for visitors and traffic patterns.  

The following letter was provided and read at the meeting by Gail Hagelstein: 

“We could go through each and every item on Andrew Ketch’s long letter, but we choose to share the facts and evidence of 
only a few as his letter is rather long and it is getting late. There is no drama, no emotions, no personalities. Just the facts 
ma’am. 
 
Also please remember, these are the facts as we know them. It is not our responsibility to constantly ask questions of a 
group that, in our opinion, should be freely disseminating and sharing information about itself. We only know what we been 
told. 
 
We thank our interim City Manager, and the City Clerk and her staff for doing the research that proves Mr. Olof Nylander 
sold his collection to the City of Caribou and the City of Caribou bought his collection and earned a salary each week from 
the city, as well as a stipend for teaching. The collection was NOT a donation from the Nylander family to the city of Caribou. 
It belongs to the city. Period. It was purchased by the city. Period. It was also the city that helped build the structure that 
houses for the bought and paid for collection. Period. 
 
“Said Olof Nylander agrees to sell and deliver his scientific collection of geological and botanical specimens to said town of 
Caribou.” 
 
This document also continues that Mr. Nylander would act as curator of the museum for $25.00 a year as long as he lived, 
along with an additional sum of $1,300 for services as instructor in schools, according to the contract made for the purchase 
of the Nylander collection. 
 
Another section explains the cooperation between the City of Caribou and the Maine Development Commission in 
construction of a building to house the Nylander Collection with the Works Progress Administration to furnish labor and 
materials. Local, state, and federal governmental agencies working together. 
 
The Nylander Collection was NOT donated by the family. It was bought and paid for by the City of Caribou from Mr. Olof 
Nylander directly. All this information, as well as copies of the documents was sent to council members on July 22, 2021. 
 
 
The first time the first graders Andrew mentioned in his letter came to the museum for mini- lessons, happened four years 
ago. Yes, he was there the entire day helping with the small groups as they rotated through the three of us as we interacted 
with these students and shared ocean life information. We all enjoyed the day and looked forward to the next year’s 
adventure. 

7



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 7 

The following year, he was able to only be there half the day and the board was able to find someone to fill in the other half 
day. We understood, life happens. 
 
The following year, the third year, the first graders were unable to visit and attend our mini-classes. Why you might ask 
why…it was last year, 2020. In a worldwide pandemic, the world shut down; schools and libraries were closed, rec centers, 
museums, theaters, restaurants, some types of businesses and stores were closed.  
We thought it was common knowledge that all these were closed and the first graders would not be visiting us last year.  
We all hunkered own, sheltered in place, worked from home, taught from home, learned from home. In such an 
unprecedented history making situation, I’m sure we can be forgiven for overlooking this small detail of contacting him. 
One the other hand: There is also the fact that Andy, a number of times in his letter, made the comment that we needed to 
contact them. Well, wouldn’t that communication goes both ways? Why didn’t he contact us? Just a question… 
 
This year, 2021, although most schools were open, then at times closed, then reopened, that vicious cycle of COVID, it was 
determined by school administrators and school boards that there would be no field trips or even visitors in school  buildings. 
Also by state COVID mandates, the Nylander could not have that many in the museum anyway. Again common knowledge 
that capacity in buildings of all types was limited.  
Next year, we hope, fingers crossed, all the first graders can attend our mini-classes. Andrew is more than welcome, as 
usual, and we will contact him to keep him informed as this, hopefully, becomes a reality. It was nothing personal, there 
were a lot of changes going on in our worlds. 
 
When the museum board started scheduling speakers, also about four years ago, Andrew knew we were scheduling them. 
He offered suggestions. He even hosted a popular speaker, one we have had return.  
As for being a speaker for the museum, we didn’t know he was interested. Throughout the discussions and brainstorming, 
he never offered, nor did he mention his interest.  We understood, he’s a busy man with a young family, farming, not being 
able to find farm workers, even then, his house inspection business took him all over the state. Now that the board knows of 
his interest, we have put him on a growing list of speakers and hope to have him share his memories of Mr. Nylander. 
Perhaps even his cousin Nelson will join him. 
 
There was no secret meeting between the lawyer and museum board members. We are believers in everyone hear the 
same thing at the same time, hear the same questions and the corresponding answers. That way nothing is lost in 
translation nor forgotten. After denying us access to the city attorney for advice, we were told by the former city manager to 
pay for a lawyer ourselves, out of our pockets, or find one that would work pro bono. Richard Engels was asked and stepped 
up to the plate to help both organizations find a way to work together. 
The following email shows Andrew Ketch was included in not only the knowledge of the meeting, but also the time and day. 
This was written by the then president of the museum board, Nelson Ketch, his cousin, sent on August 21, 2018, a week 
before the meeting. 
 
Friends of the Nylander 
There is a meeting set for Monday the 27th of August at Bemis and Rossignol’s office at 454 
Main St. in Presque Isle for the Nylander 501c3 officers/directors and any other Friends of the 
Nylander or Nylander Trusties so that we can work out our massive differences of opinions on 
how this should work. 
The officers we have listed are: 
·       Andrew Ketch Pres. 
·       Debbie Tardy Treas. 
·       Debbie Nichols 
·       Kimber Noyes 
·       Gail Hagelstein 
The other city 501c3’s such as the Cary Foundation, the Caribou library and the Rec center 

were the model we used when setting up the Nylander 501c3,  we have been informed 
by the Friends of the Nylander that we can’t even see how much we have in the account, 
or who donated so that we can put up the donation board in the museum that thanks the 
many businesses and individuals that donated, like the one at the library or in the main 
hallway at Cary.  We have a commitment to the prime donor to purchase the items they 
wanted part of the money to be used for.  We also have some memorial money and 
money from the Aroostook Savings & Loan that is to be spent on display cases. 

The board of trustees needs to know what is available for planning purposes as we have 
commitments and need to know how many extra display cases we can afford with out 
bleeding the donated funds down too far.  2 years ago, we had bids for around $1700 - 

8

https://maps.google.com/?q=454+Main+St&entry=gmail&source=g
https://maps.google.com/?q=454+Main+St&entry=gmail&source=g


August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 8 

$2100 per case.  We will have to get new bids and we are looking at 4-6 new display 
cases that match our old ones.  We are also looking into getting safety glass and LED 
lighting installed on our old display cases. The glass alone is around $1000.  This is just 
info on what we are thinking about not what we have decided yet. 

We did not submit a bid for a TV/projector to the friends a couple of months ago as that was a 
proposal for using a TV instead of a projector and was wanting to know what you guys 
thought about it, since then we have decided a 65” TV will work better. 

We discussed at our last meeting your proposal to hang the animals from the walls and love the 
proposal, we would like you to hold off until we have a final plan on where the new and 
old displays cases will be placed so that the animals can be hung in the best viewing 
area for our young visitors. 

As requested by the Friends of the Nylander we need to sit down and work out all the protocols 
for interacting and working with each other, due to it being Labor Day on Sept. 1st we 
won’t have many trustees around, also won’t be available on the 20th of September as 
won’t have a quorum.  We suggest meeting possibly on a Monday evening at your 
groups choosing and as soon as we can, next month. 

Thank Brandy Makepeace-Cote for the great work on Sweden St. and the parade as we have 
had many new visitors to the museum because of her and other Friends efforts. 

  
Nelson Ketch   
--  
Nelson 
 
This email is from me, dated August 29, 2018: 
 
Read the email Monday’s meeting, dated August 29, 2018.  
 
Other 501s do exactly that. Whether it is libraries, museums, hospitals, theaters, schools,  they advertise their financials and 
donors for several reasons. Interestingly, by asking two neutral questions, Nylander board members have been able to 
ascertain how other 501c3s are handled.  
 
The two questions: 
How do other entities with 501s handle the knowledge and information of their financials? 
And 
How do these groups handle their list of donors? 
 
 
Every one of them explained the transparency of both pieces of information. It SHOULD be public knowledge. They all 
shared that by being transparent, it helped both groups. 
Communication between the two groups was vital for both organizations. There needed to be open discussions of the 
financials to set up budgets for the following year and/or projects. That anyone interested in their numbers could find them in 
print and/or online. Open and transparent, something every group was proud and happy to be. 
 
As for donor names? Even in our city there are plaques, boards and signs sharing that type of information, and with other 
501s the information is included in the print and online documents. 
 
This information was the same all across the state and the country. And facts are facts. 
 
Do we have different expectations regarding the information regarding the financials and donor names from the f-f? Yes, but 
we have done the research to realize this is an anomaly. We are not asking for this information to control, we are asking for 
the information for knowledge. We helped raise these funds and people ask about them. 
We are told every penny is accounted for, that all we need to do is request funds.  
We have done that, repeatedly, and have not received anything for more than two years. 
 
There is a disconnect between the two groups, we have different expectations. You have heard Andrew’s version and you 
are now hearing some emails and evidence from us tonight. Notice we are not pointing fingers, we are stating facts.   
 
As for the scholarships, the information we have came from Debbie Tardy, Andrew’s mother and the treasurer of the 
Friends-Foundation two years ago. We had no reason not to believe her. We know only what we have been told. 

9



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 9 

 
Dated June 29, 2019 from her FB post: “We are also in the process of creating a scholarship program to offer to students 
that are majoring in the same fields of Olof O Nylander studied. We have grown considerably and are honored to be able to 
provide scholarships to students. It is very rewarding to see students walk in the footsteps of Olof O. Nylander.”  
Please notice the verb tense. 
 
Earlier this year, comes this from Andrew: 
 
“The formation was a goal for the future growth of the Foundation when I was President as we started. We were excited in 
growing the Foundation. It never happened, was never created, was never an option to apply for and not a dollar was spent 
towards it though. Get your facts straight.” 
 
And yes, we did make calls to local high schools and the college and university about this scholarship. No one has had 
heard of this scholarship. We can’t get information from the f-f, we’ve tried. As Andrew keeps reminding us, we can only ask 
for funding. If they changed this scholarship goal, why didn’t they share this with donors, with those outside of the f-f group? 
 
It is mentioned several times in the letter, that all we need to do is request funding.  
 
Again from Debbie Tardy’s FB post from two years again. 
 
Two years ago, on May 5, 2019 Gail sent an email to the new president of the f-f, Thomas Ayer, the FotN, and the Nylander 
Museum board members: 
 
Hi there, 
 
We realize with a change of leadership, there may be a chance of emails being overlooked.  
 
Here is the list of funding requests the Board of Trustees has made: 
 
Feb 22       Storage totes      100.00 
March 29   Additional funding for Dino Days   142.83 
April 3        TripleR funding    100.00* 
                  Rock painting       100.00 
April 18      Chewonki Bug Mobile   584.00 
April 22      Seed disks           50.00 
April 26      Artwork Supplies  50.00* 
April 28      2 display cases    Aprx 2100.00 each 
                  2 drawer display cases ? each 
 

• Haven't used this amount, still collecting receipts. We will return any extra with the 
original copies of receipts. 

 
The reply from Thomas Ayer, dated May 9, 2019 
 
Dear trustees, 
I would like to meet with you at your next scheduled meeting to discuss your request for funds 
and any other issues there may be with the friends of the Nylander.  Please let me know when 
your next meeting so I can mark my calendar.  Thank you  
 
Thomas Ayer 
Caribou City Councilor  
 
Reply from Travis, also dated May 9 
We are scheduled to meet at 6pm on the 16th, next Thursday.  This will be at the museum. 
 
Travis 
 

10



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 10 

On the 16th, Tom Ayer walked in, with copies of these funding requests, shaking his hand in the air, asking if we were trying 
to “nickel and dime” them, meaning the friends. He then went on to explain that the F-F wanted to replace the lights and the 
heating units.  
 
Needless to say, we were quite surprised as Andrew’s interview in the Aroostook Republican stated the “money raised will 
cover everything except operational costs and maintenance costs, as those are funded by the city.” March 31, 2018 
We were also in the midst if writing a grant for those replacements. 
 
After a discussion of alternative plans for display cases as Carol shared her perspective of the display boxes on the tables. 
We also made the decision to not put the mounted/stuffed animals on the wall. Councilor / President of the FotN Ayer left 
explaining he would bring the funding requests to the f-f board and let us know. There has been no word regarding these 
requests. 
 
The most recent funding request was submitted on July 15, 2021 to the P.O.Box listed on the IRS site and an email was 
sent to Councilor Ayer. There has been no response nor acknowledgement. 
 
Councilor Ayer has contacted me regarding the new display cases. Unfortunately, we can not move forward on this project. 
One piece of important information has not been shared and that is the project’s budget. If we don’t know how much funding 
is available, we can’t plan the project. We need a number please. 
 
 
As for the lack of keys, two years ago in one of our quarterly meetings with the former cm, he asked how many museum 
keys were floating around the area. This is the reaction he received to his question. It was a good question. 
 
The two co-presidents had no idea, we knew the current board members and the FotN had them, but had heard there were 
a number of them floating around the community. At that point, the cm authorized the expense to rekey the locks with 
specific instructions that only board members could have keys and they needed to be accounted for. This is something 
Travis has done diligently.  
 
Why not the FotN? As we are told often by Andrew and the former cm, they are a separate entity, not connected to the city 
in anyway. This was not our decision, and we believe it would set a dangerous precedent to give keys to private citizens for 
access to city buildings and facilities. 
 
Nor was it our decision to stop having private family gatherings in municipal buildings, nor having farm stands set up in the 
parking lot of a municipal building. The Caribou city council made these decisions, not us.  
 
 
Oh by the way, as for the gold nugget; if the family knew it had been stolen years ago, why didn’t they inform the police? 
Was a police report filed? When was it stolen? Why has this information just now been revealed? 
 
And yes, councilor Merrill, we have researched it. Three long term board members have no memories of this nugget back to 
the 1990s, long before any of us current members were on the board. 
We have also taken steps to ensure that anyone getting into any display case while the museum is open would cause 
notice and noise. 
 
The Nylander board knew this issue would be discussed, we had hoped for a neutral discussion. We wanted a meeting 
where we could inform you of the situation and that’s all. Just inform you. We would like long denied access to the city 
lawyer for advice pertaining to the next step regarding the issue. Because there is a next step. It is up to the donors to take 
these steps, the Nylander board would like to know the consequences of these steps.  
 
What is Andy’s goal? These are coming from a man who said, when the museum was on life support, he wanted to move 
the collection to his farmhouse, and not once, but also during lunch when the day the first graders came and in board 
meetings to which he was invited. 
 
In our opinion, these letters have added another level of negativity to an already toxic relationship. After speaking with our 
council representative, we will not engage with any further letters from Andrew. There is no need to us to stand here and 
waste your time and ours. 
The following was written before last week. We would like to thank our interim city manager and Councilor Merrill for their 
help with the compressor, as well as the rest of the exit signs. It is so good to be able to cross off these items from our 
collective list. 
 
 
We would like to thank: 
The board members, the fire department, the city manager, our ac… amazing custodian. They all rolled up their sleeves and 
we were a well-oiled machine, a cohesive group faced with a situation no one would want to walk into. All of us took this 
seriously. This is the city’s museum and it had been damaged.  

11



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 11 

 
Also thank-you to public works for their help and assistance today, as well as RSU39 for giving us freezer space so we could 
try to save some paper-based museum items. 
 
 
We thank you, the council, for supporting us. If there have been any doubts about whether we can handle running this 
department successfully, think of what we have accomplished with the roadblocks put in our way the last few years. We 
gave each of you the annual report for 2019 and 2020 the last time we met. Think about the positive accomplishments, how 
we not only revived the museum, but how it has flourished and grown, and become an important part of the community 
through our work and dedication … even with the roadblocks. 
 
With the discovery of the water damage, this board has worked and brainstormed regarding the situation Penny has kept us 
informed as we have with her. Again, if there is any doubt in your minds as to the ability of this Nylander board to handle and 
work the museum as a separate department, these last few days have proven our right to continue with the 2015 ordinance. 
 
Thank-you. 
The following screenshots were provided by Travis Michaud from the Nylander board.   

 

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Motion made by Councilor Boma, seconded by Councilor Willey to table the discussion regarding the 
new police station until a later date. 

12



August 23, 2021 
21-25 Pg. 12 

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell – No, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - Yes, 
T. Ayer - No, (motion failed) 

Councilor Morrell wanted to commend Public Works for the job well done with repairing the guard rails 
and using old guard rails.   

Council Agenda Item#12:  Executive session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under 
MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a.  Personnel items under §405.6.A 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to enter executive session at 8:36 
p.m. to discuss personnel items under §405.6.A 

Council exited executive session at 9:05 p.m. 

No action was taken. 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Next Regular Meetings:  September 7, September 20 

Council Agenda Item #14: Adjournment  

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Councilor Goughan to adjourn the meeting at 9:06 p.m.  

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - 
Yes, T. Ayer - Yes, (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

13



September 7, 2021 
21-26 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council meeting on Tuesday, September 7, 2021, in the Council 
Chambers with the following members present; Councilors Boma, Morrell, Theriault, Willey and Mayor 
Smith.  Deputy Mayor Ayer and Councilor Goughan were absent and excused.   

Penny Thompson, Interim City Manager was present at the meeting.   

Department managers Kenneth G Murchison (Zoning Administrator), Peter Baldwin (Librarian), and 
Christina Kane-Gibson (Events & Marketing Director) were present at the meeting.  

Hannah Catlin of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via Spectrum 
and YouTube.   

Council Agenda Item#2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation.   

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

There were no comments made.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  Nylander Board resignation 

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the resignation of Phil 
McDonough II from the Nylander Board of Trustees.   

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - Yes, T. Ayer - Yes, (So 
voted) 

Council has suggested that we advertise and come back at a later date to appoint a board member to fill 
the vacancy.   

Council Agenda Item #6:  Public Hearings and Possible Action  

There were no items of discussion.   

Council Agenda Item #7:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  Manager’s Report 

Interim Manager Penny Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated September 3, 2021. 

b.  RFQ for Caribou Municipal Airport General Consultant / Airport Engineer 

Interim Manager Thompson explained that the last contract that was in place had expired in 2020.  

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to put our the RFQ for the Caribou 
Municipal Airport General Consultant / Airport Engineer 

14



September 7, 2021 
21-26 Pg. 2 

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - Yes, T. Ayer - Yes, (So 
voted) 

Council Agenda Item #8:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Introduction of Ordinance No. 18, 2021 Series, Amending Chapter 17 General Assistance 

Councilor Morrell introduced Ordinance No. 18, 2021 Series, Amending Chapter 17 General Assistance.  

b.  Motion to set November Election times and Warden appointments 

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Councilor Willey to set the opening time for the 
November 2, 2021, Election at 8:00 am, to appoint Danielle Brissette as election warden, with Cherie 
Garman and Lisa LaBarre as deputy wardens.   

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - Yes, T. Ayer - Yes, (So 
voted) 

Council Agenda Item #9:  Old Business 

There were no items of discussion.   

Council Agenda Item #10:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Mayor Smith wanted to briefly discuss the public safety committee.  He explained that at the last meeting 
there were motions that were brought up.  Roughly four or five years ago they had started talking about 
the public safety building and it’s moved forward. It was kind of at a stalemate for a year, after becoming 
mayor we created the public safety committee.  At the last meeting there was a presentation by Artifex 
who came up with a number and there were a couple of motions made and questions on whether the item 
was dead or not.  We have received some clarification through MMA and Rick Solman regarding the 
topic and how to move forward.  A special meeting had been considered and it didn’t work out to get the 
question on the ballot. In the future very soon as a council we are going to get together and become more 
united on this topic and possibly have something for the June referendum.   

Council Agenda Item #11:  Executive Session(s)  (May be called to discuss matters identified under 
MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

Council did not enter executive session.  

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings:  September 20, October 4 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 6:30 p.m.  

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

15



September 14, 2021 
21-27 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council meeting on Tuesday, September 14, 2021, in the Council 
Chambers with the following members present: Councilors Boma, Goughan, Morrell, Theriault, Willey 
and Mayor Smith.  Deputy Mayor Ayer was absent and excused. 

Penny Thompson, Interim City Manager was present at the meeting.   

Department manager, Kenneth G Murchison (Zoning Administrator), was present at the meeting.  

The meeting was broadcast via Spectrum and YouTube. 

Council Agenda Item#2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation.   

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

There were no comments made.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Discussion of Kacie’s Place Campground proposal 

Troy Haney, Caribou resident and business owner, came to speak regarding his proposal of Kacie’s Place 
Campground.   

He read the following letter that he has provided: 

First off, I would like to thank the Council and the City Manager for their time to take a look at our 
project and the process we have gone through. Throughout the process, I have been to the past several 
months planning board meetings, and I noticed a few things that concern me as a taxpayer in Caribou. It 
seems that the current approach is to dig as deep into the rule books and find any and all points possible 
to challenge a project from happening. Now as a past Planning board Chairman, I understand and 
appreciate the need to make sure every project is meeting our rules, it seems to me the tone and 
approach seem to come off very ridged. My project was a prime example of what I'm talking about. 

Here we have a project that meets all State and DEP regulations, but Caribou is more restrictive, and we 
are talking about the clean up of a literal former junkyard that only abuts a railroad bed and a river. This 
should have been a no brainer, but here we are elevating it all the way to council to make it happen. This 
is a project everyone understands should happen, but what I've observed has me more upset than my 
project itself. Here is an example of what I'm talking about, A gentleman from outside of Caribou comes 
here and buys a 180 acre parcel of land on the Bowles road and decides to split it into 3-60 acre parcels 
of land to sell off and large house lots. The planning board looked to run this simple land divide through 
the entire Subdivision rule set, even while our own Code Enforcement Officer tried to advise them that 
they didn't need to go through all of that as most of it didn't apply. Now we can stand here and debate 
what should have happened, but the end result is what matters. The end result was this man came here 
for several meetings only to give up and sell the property as a 180 piece of land. When the request was 
withdrawn at the past meeting, I heard the comment from our board, "Well that's good, he sold it" I see 

16



September 14, 2021 
21-27 Pg. 2 

it a little differently, as it's not good, because we had a land developer from outside our town willing to 
spend the money to survey and split a large parcel of land into 3 lots and that could have been 3 lots sold 
that could have been 3 new houses in Caribou that now will be most likely 1 lot with one house, So I ask 
you is that good for Caribou and does anyone think this developer will come back to Caribou? It's a 
missed opportunity, that's what it is and our town needs to react with more urgency to make these 
things happen instead of being a road block. I also noticed at the last meeting that the CEO was bringing 
forward a new project that a young businessman in town will be looking to build 3-4 cabins to rent out 
to sledders and vacationers along the Madawaska River and again it seemed the board was confused on 
how to handle this project. The direction is that this project needs to go through a subdivision, which 
makes no sense as it is all owned by one owner. This is more of a hotel/lodging project and shouldn't be 
looked at as mutli family housing as they board was discussing. I hope they figure it out and don't delay 
this person's project the way they did mine. 

I have to tell you, I have grown up my whole life in Caribou, and this is my home. I have been blessed by 
the support of the local community, shopping at our store and supporting my business, but when I left 
the meeting last week, knowing that the project I proposed was denied, I was so angry with the whole 
situation. This project for us isn't about making money, it is about trying to do our part to give back. I 
truly believe that the waterfront property is under utilized in our town. I believe in it so much that I 

wanted to put my money where my mouth was as I have been pushing this idea for years. This was my 
chance to hopefully give that area a jumpstart and show others what could be done in an area that 
needs attention. I got home and my first reaction was to say the heck with this town and just sell off my 
building and property and move my business to another town. Think about that for a minute, I've grown 
up here, I been committed to my town by being a firefighter emt, I served on the planning board, I've 
donated to our schools several different ways, and so on... What I'm trying to say is I'm committed to 
this place I call home and I was ready to throw the towel in over this process. Imagine if you were new to 
this own or trying to bring a business here from outside. You would say the heck with this town and 
away you would go. As I sat there stewing on this, I thought about it a bit and decided that this wasn't 
the right approach. What I needed to be is part of the solution and not give into the problem. And this is 
what brings me to this presentation tonight. 

I believe our town needs an attitude adjustment at almost every level, I've watch local groups get 
together and try to separate the town and then seen other groups try to pick apart everything that the 
other side does from what shoes are being worn to a meeting and so on. I've watched the planning 
board almost discourage projects from happening that would increase our tax base and improve our 
town and our council works hard, but it seems to focus more on what they disagree about more than 
working on solutions. My point is we can all do better, this is Caribou, Maine, population 7500 not a big 
city. We need to remember that the comments we post on social media and our comments and actions 
at meetings are seen by the public outside of Caribou and if I were looking to relocate a business and 
took a look at the things going on here, I would look around for a town that has their stuff together. We 
need to show strong leadership and demonstrate that Caribou is a place you want to live and have a 
business. Attitude is everything and I hope we can change this to feel like we are Saying Welcome to 
Caribou, How can we help you open your business here. 

We continue to discuss how to cut taxes and save money. We squeeze every department for every nickel 
we can save, and that's all ok, but it is the only place we focus on. We did away with our Chamber of 

17



September 14, 2021 
21-27 Pg. 3 

Commerce and eliminated economic development positions from our city to save tax dollars and now we 
have no one working to bring businesses here. We need to get back to investing the time and money 
necessary to reach out and bring businesses to Caribou. How can we grow a garden if we never plant a 
seed? You can't and if we can turn all of the negative energy into a positive approach we can make a 
difference. 

In the coming weeks I will be starting a new citizen based group that will look to support a positive 
approach to not only find opportunities, but also look to work with our planning board, council, and city 
management to inspire a positive environment for opportunities to happen. This is not a problem 
created by one part of our city. It is not up to the city to provide all the answers and ideas. This is the 
responsibility of everyone in our community to try to help where they can. It might be a simple as sharing 
a positive post on social media about something great in our community. I could be sharing an idea to be 
considered, it could be a group planting flowers and cleaning up a neighborhood. Think of all the simple 
things that can be done to make it better for everyone. Here are a few actional steps for us to get started 
to better understand where our challenges are: 

1. Run a few survey's to better understand the perception and vibe that the community has of 
Caribou and its willingness to work together. 

2. Create a group of people that want to see positive change and work together to make a 
difference by supporting change through the collaboration of our city boards and officials. 3. 
Perform a SWOT analysis to outline Caribou's Strengths, Weakness's, Opportunities and Threats 

4. Creation of a team that is willing to guide and support entrepreneurs through the start up 
process at the very point of entry with our planning board. The goal will be to meet the needs of 
the city as well as the business person. 

5. Work with the city to induce a change in rules and regulations that invite people to come here. 
Caribou needs to be Open for Business. 

This is just a start and I will be bringing more ideas forward as we get established in the coming weeks. I 
appreciate you all listening to my spiel, and I hope that everyone gets involved to make this a success as 
our town is counting on this to happen. I'm committed to Caribou today as much as I ever have been, 
and when I put my mind to something, I generally look to succeed and get the job done. This is not a 
project I can do on my own, so I'm calling out to other citizens with different view points to get involved 
If I offended anyone with my talking points, I apologize, but we are long overdue to make these changes 
to get things happening on a positive way. Thank you to the council for allowing me to speak tonight. 

Steve Wentworth, a member of the planning board, explained that what is needed to be able to have 
the project continue considering the strict guidelines of the ordinance would be to have council issue a 
letter of Consent with no contest allowing for the project to be continued.  He also suggested that the 
ordinance be re-written to align with the State.  

Councilor Morrell commented that he agrees and that we should go by the state requirements for this 
project as well.   

Councilor Willey questioned if they need an actual letter to be able to continue, and why are we so 
much stricter then the state guidelines. 

18



September 14, 2021 
21-27 Pg. 4 

It was explained that they would need a letter and that it could be drafted for the council to sign at the 
next regular meeting September 20th , and that Council would look into changing the ordinance to be 
more aligned with the state guidelines.   

Councilor Theriault explained that we should move quickly so that the project could continue.  

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Boma, to go ahead with the consent letter 
with no contest, then work on the ordinance at a later date.   

Dave Corriveau, Caribou resident and planning board member, explained that all rules and regulations 
are put into place for a reason.  These rules were put into place during the urban renewal time and he 
commended the council for addressing the issue because things are changing every day.   

 Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R. M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Next Regular Meetings:  September 20, October 4  

Council Agenda Item #7:   Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 6:45 p.m. 

Roll Call Vote: C. Boma - Yes, R. M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, L. Willey - 
Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

19



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, Interim City Manager 
Date:   09/17/2021 
Re:   Nylander Museum Board of Trustees appointment 

  

The City of Caribou received and accepted a resignation from the Nylander Museum Board of 
Trustees from Phil McDonough II. His appointment expiration date is 12/31/2023. 

Chapter 15 from the City of Caribou Ordinances that the City Council shall appoint a new trustee 
to finish the unexpired term. There is not a time frame for this action. 
 
As directed at the prior meeting, staff has posted the vacancy to solicit applications. 
 
Kristen Henry has applied (see attached). 

The Nylander Museum Board of Trustees has requested that the Caribou City Council appoint 
Kristen Henry to fill the unexpired term of Mr. McDonough. 

 

 

 

 

 

20



21



From: Danielle McLaughlin
To: Penny Thompson
Subject: FW: Nylander Board member to be appointed
Date: Friday, September 17, 2021 11:26:06 AM

Good morning,
I am forwarding you this email from Gail Hagelstein regarding the Nylander board appointment. 

Danielle M. Brissette
City Clerk
City of Caribou
dbrissette@cariboumaine.org
P. 207-493-3324 ext. #207
F.  207-493-4207

-----Original Message-----
From: Gail Hagelstein <mainiacs2@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, September 17, 2021 11:07 AM
To: Danielle McLaughlin <dbrissette@cariboumaine.org>
Subject: Nylander Board member to be appointed

Danielle,

The Nylander Board wishes to have Kristen Henry appointed to the board. Ms Henry is enthusiastic about the
museum, has skill sets that will complement the needs of the museum, and is willing to roll up her sleeves and join
the well-oiled machine that is the museum’s board.

Sincerely,
The Nylander Museum Board of Trustees

Sent from my iPad
[This email comes from outside of your organization. Please be cautious opening or clicking on any attachments or
links.]

22

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org
mailto:pthompson@cariboumaine.org


 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Kenneth Murchison, Zoning Administrator/CEO  
RE:  August 23rd Introduction of Chapter 20 Riverfront 

Redevelopment Committee 
DATE:  August 23, 2021 
 

 
The Riverfront Redevelopment Stakeholders Group was convened on September 23, 2020, with the intent 
to identify and prioritize riverfront assets, set goals, and ultimately restore interests of renewed 
commercial, residential, and recreational opportunities while celebrating the riverfront as vital part of our 
community. Since that time the Group has identified the Riverfront Redevelopment District, reviewed 
current and proposed land use and zoning and is exploring recommendations to the Caribou 
Comprehensive Plan Update and proposed Riverfront Redevelopment Mast Plan. The stakeholder’s group 
has progressed to the point that we are performing at a higher level than an ad hock group and seek 
authorization to become a fully functioning official committee of the city as we enter the Master Planning 
aspect of our initiative. 
  
Sec. 2.11 Action Requiring an Ordinance. 

In addition to other acts required by law or by specific provisions of this Charter to be done by ordinance, 
those acts of the City Council shall be by ordinance which: (1) Adopt or amend an administrative code or 
establish, alter, or abolish any City department, office, or agency. 

Sec. 2.12 Ordinances in General. 

(a) Adoption notice. The City Council shall pass such municipal ordinances as they think necessary 
and proper, governed by the authority which cities have to enact ordinances under the State of 
Maine, Title 30-A, statutes and amendments thereto; provided that any such ordinances shall be 
properly adopted if a public hearing has been held thereon after not less than seven (7) days’ 
notice thereof, which notice need only contain the title of the proposed ordinance and a brief 
summary of its contents together with the time and place of said hearing. 

(b) Existing ordinances. All existing ordinances of the City of Caribou shall be retained as active 
ordinances under this City Charter. 

(c) Procedure. An ordinance may be introduced by any member at any regular or special meeting of 
the Council providing it is in writing in the form required for final adoption and contains only one 
subject which is clearly expressed in its title and upon introduction of an ordinance, the City 
Clerk shall distribute a copy to each Council member and to the City Manager, shall file a 
reasonable number of copies in the office of City Clerk and such other public places as the 
Council may designate, and shall publish the ordinance together with notice setting out the time 
and place for a public hearing which shall follow the publication by at least seven days, may be 
held separately or in connection with a regular or special council meeting and may be adjourned 
from time to time; all persons interested shall have an opportunity to be heard. After the hearing, 
the Council may adopt the ordinance with or without 9 amendment or reject it, but if it is 
amended as to any matter of substance, the Council may not adopt it until the ordinance, or its 
amended sections have been subjected to all the procedures hereinbefore required in the case of a 
newly introduced ordinance. As soon as practicable after adoption of any ordinance, the City 
Clerk shall have it published again together with a notice of its adoption. 

(d) Effective date. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter, every adopted ordinance shall 
become effective at the expiration of 30 days after adoption or at any later date specified therein. 

(e) "Publish" defined. As used in this section, the term "publish" means to print in one or more 
newspapers of general circulation in the City, in addition to be posted to the City’s website and 
public access station, when available: (1) the ordinance or a brief summary thereof, and (2) the 
places where copies have been filed and the times when they are available for public inspection.  23



Chapter 20 Riverfront Redevelopment Committee 

ARTICLE 1 Riverfront Redevelopment Committee 

Section 

20-101  Preamble 
20-102  Appointment and Tenure 
20-103  Responsibility 
20-104  Bylaws 
20-105  Compensation Benefits 
20-106  Purpose 
20-107  Funding 
20-108  Reporting Requirements 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

24



Chapter 20 Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee (CRRC) 

ARTICLE I Riverfront Redevelopment Committee 

Sec. 20-101 Preamble 

WHEREAS, riverfront redevelopment has been listed as a priority in the 2014-2024 City of 
Caribou Comprehensive Plan and outlined prominently in the 2004 Caribou Recreational Trails 
Study; and  
 
WHEREAS, the riverfront was once a thriving area of our community; and 
 
WHEREAS, the riverfront has become a neglected, underused and forgotten asset of the City; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the members of the current Riverfront Development Committee now believe that its 
base of support and its activities must be moved into the “community as a whole” for greater 
participation and effectiveness;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF CARIBOU MAINE HEREBY establishes the “Caribou Riverfront 
Renaissance Committee (CRRC)”, whose purpose is to utilize planning tools to 
identify and prioritize riverfront assets, set goals and ultimately restore interests of 
renewed commercial, residential and recreational opportunities while celebrating 
the riverfront as vital part of our community. 

 
Sec. 20-102 Appointment and Tenure 

IT IS THEREFORE ADOPTED by the Caribou City Council pursuant to Sec. 2.11 of the 
Caribou City Charter, as follows: 
 
(a.) The Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee (hereinafter, “the Committee”) is hereby 
designated a formal Committee of the City of Caribou, initially composed of five members of the 
public, who shall be appointed by the City Council.  In addition, the Committee will include five 
ex-officio members: one member of the City Council, to be appointed by the City Council; three 
members of the City Staff, to be appointed by the City Manager; and the City Manager. 
 
Public members shall be appointed for year-three terms; except however, initial appointments 
shall be made as follows: two for three-year terms, two for two-year terms and one for a one-year 
term.  
 
Ex-officio members shall serve indefinitely, at the pleasure of the appointing authority. 
 
 

25



Sec. 20-103 Responsibility 

(b)  The City Manager shall be responsible for the organization, administration and operation 
of the Committee; except however, said responsibilities may be delegated to the Committee, as 
the City Manager deems appropriate. 

Sec. 20-104 Bylaws 

(c) The Committee shall adopt by-laws providing for the officers, organization and activities of 
the Committee, including a provision for the appointment by the Committee of an unlimited 
number of additional members.  The Committee’s by-laws shall be approved by the City 
Manager. 

Sec. 20-105 Compensation Benefits 

(d)  No member of the Committee, other than employees of the City in other capacities 
serving ex officio pursuant to section (a) and any persons who may be specifically employed by 
the City for Committee-related activities, shall receive any compensation for Committee 
activities, nor shall any person serving on the Committee be deemed an agent or employee of the 
City, being entitled to any customary employment benefits, specifically including, but not 
limited to workers’ compensation benefits. 

Sec. 20-106 Purpose 

(e)  The purpose of Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee (CRRC) shall be to: 

 Develop the Caribou Riverfront District as an historic, artistic, cultural, and commercial 
district, a destination not only to attract tourists from outside of our region, but also a 
place for residents to enjoy and patronize as outlined in Caribou’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 Facilitate economic development for Caribou and the region 

 Improve recreational, commercial, entertainment and hospitality opportunities for citizens 
of Caribou and surrounding communities 

 Attract tourism from outside community 

 
Sec. 20-107 Funding 
 
(f)  All grant applications seeking funds in excess of $2500.00 shall be approved by the City 
Council, and all funds related to the Committee’s activities shall be administered through the 
City Manager’s office. 
 
Sec. 20-108 Reporting Requirements 
 
(h)  The Committee shall file an annual report with the City Manager on or before January 
31st of each year, covering goals, activities, and accomplishments during the preceding year. 

26



 

 

 

Resolution 09-01-2021 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  
Establishing Chapter 20 Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee (CRRC) 

 
WHEREAS, riverfront redevelopment has been listed as a priority in the 2014-2024 City of 
Caribou Comprehensive Plan and outlined prominently in the 2004 Caribou Recreational Trails 
Study; and  
 
WHEREAS, the riverfront was once a thriving area of our community; and 
 
WHEREAS, the riverfront has become a neglected, underused and forgotten asset of the City; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the members of the current Riverfront Development Committee now believe that its 
base of support and its activities must be moved into the “community as a whole” for greater 
participation and effectiveness;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF CARIBOU MAINE HEREBY establishes the “Caribou Riverfront 
Renaissance Committee (CRRC)”, whose purpose is to utilize planning tools to 
identify and prioritize riverfront assets, set goals and ultimately restore interests of 
renewed commercial, residential and recreational opportunities while celebrating 
the riverfront as vital part of our community. 

 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 
20th day of September 2021.  
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 

[City Seal]    

27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



City Manager's Report
September 17, 2022

Economic Projects

 

River Front - Powerplants No new updates.

Broadband Initiative Received an e-mail from Spectrum this week about FTTH. County Broadband committee met via zoom.

CDBG No new updates.

Ogren Dump Solar Project Received an email from SynerGen Solar. Andy Thomas with Bullrock Corporation will be the EPC contractor.

Events and Marketing
Out of an abundance of caution, the Caribou Marathon was cancelled. Events and Marketing Director Christina Kane-Gibson will be 
leaving her employment with the City of Caribou to take on a new challenge. The dedidation to Caribou, hard work and boundless 
creativity that Christina brought to the role will long be remembered.

Landbank No new updates.

Chapter 13 Rewrite Special meeting on September 23 concerning the rewrite of a section of Chapter 13 on Campgrounds.

Federal American Rescue Plan Act No new updates.

Blight Cleanup No new updates.

Birdseye Cleanup No new updates.

60 Access Highway Ken Murchison has reached out to BRSA about "Mecon Street".

River Front - Master Plan Chapter 20 public hearing held tonight.

Façade Improvement Program Brian Cole anticipates starting his project on Otter Street next week.

Hilltop Senior Living No new updates.

Sitel Building No new updates.

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates.

Jarosz Storage - Limestone St No new updates. 82



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy Will coordinate with the Finance Director as the time gets nearer to deadlines set forth in the policy.

Nylander MMA Insurance representative was up this past week.

Fire Structural Work Quote received for the chimney work. Work will begin soon.

Teague Park No new updates. 

Police Station Police Station committee met on Friday.

Fire Station Renovations No new updates. 

Investment Policy No new updates. 

Trailer Park Closure Complaints about blowing debris from trash and insulation left behind have been received.

Fish Hatchery Bridge No new updates. 

Cable Franchise Renewal No new updates. 

Airport Staff is preparing a "state of the airport" report for a future meeting. 5-year RFQ has been put out. Two calls have been received.

City Hall Boiler Systems Dead River worked in the office on the project September 8 - 10.

Chambers AV System Sound issues on Channels 8 & 1301. The equipment seems fine so Oak Leaf is working with Spectrum.

River Road No new updates.

New LED Street lights No new updates. 

Comp Plan Update No new updates. 

COVID-19 Status Aroostook County listed as a "High" level of Community Transmission on CDC website, along with the entire State of Maine.

Personnel Policy No new updates. 

Parking Lot Paving No new updates. 

Procurement Policy No new updates. 
Personnel Changes Resignation of Christina Kane-Gibson received. Last day will be September 27.

Administrative Approvals No new updates. 83



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, Interim City Manager 
Date:   09/17/2021 
Re:   Introduction of Ordinance No. 19, 2021 Series, Chapter 21 Remote Participation Policy 

  

With the resurgence in COVID-19 cases, the Caribou City Council has expressed a desire to allow 
remote participation in City Council meetings.  

One feature of the now-expired emergency legislation from the early days of the pandemic that 
the Legislature recently made permanent is the ability of municipal boards and committees to 
meet remotely.   MMA has provided written guidance on the new remote meetings law. To 
enable remote participation, a board must first, after public notice and hearing, adopt a written 
policy governing remote participation by board members and the public that contains certain 
limitations (discussed in the attached guidance).  MMA has also provided a sample written 
policy. The need for a written policy is contained in state statute 1 M.R.S. § 403-B. 

Under the new remote meeting law, board members are expected to be physically present for 
meetings. However, may attend board meetings via remote methods of participation in the 
case of an emergency or urgent issue that requires the board itself to meet remotely, or an 
illness or temporary absence that causes a board member significant difficulty in traveling to a 
meeting. It is likely that if a board or committee member had a medical condition that made 
him/her more susceptible to COVID, a doctor’s note would meet the criteria for an “illness or 
other physical condition” that made attendance impracticable.  If a board member has no 
medical condition but is generally concerned about a specific COVID case or the delta variant 
more generally, then I’m not sure that this would meet the criteria, but the phrases “when 
being physically present is not practicable” and “urgent issue” could be open to interpretation, 
especially if the entire board shares that concern. 

The information provided by MMA Legal is on the following pages. 

 

84



Remote Board Meetings 
Now OK’d Permanently 
 
 The Legislature has made remote participation in public board meetings permissible on a 
permanent basis, but only under limited circumstances. PL 2021, c. 290, was enacted as an 
emergency measure and took effect on June 21, 2021, with the Governor’s signature. It adds a 
new provision (§ 403-B) to Maine’s Freedom of Access Act or FOAA (1 M.R.S. §§ 400-414). 
 
 Meanwhile, FOAA’s temporary provision (§ 403-A) authorizing remote participation in 
public board meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic remains in effect until July 30, 2021. 
 
 Under the new law board members are expected to be physically present for meetings, 
but may attend board meetings via remote methods of participation in the case of an emergency 
or urgent issue that requires the board itself to meet remotely, or an illness or temporary absence 
that causes a board member significant difficulties in traveling to a meeting.  
   

The public must have a meaningful opportunity to attend via remote methods when board 
members participate via remote methods. If public input is allowed or required at a meeting, an 
effective means of communication between the board and the public must also be provided. A 
board must provide a location where members of the public may attend in person. A board may 
not limit public attendance to remote methods only except in case of an emergency that requires 
the board itself to meet remotely. 

 
Remote methods include telephonic or video technology allowing simultaneous reception 

of information and also permits other means necessary to accommodate disabled persons. But 
remote participation cannot be by text-only means such as e-mail, text messages, or chat 
functions 
 
 To enable remote participation, a board must first, after public notice and hearing, adopt a 
written policy governing remote participation by board members and the public that contains the 
limitations noted above.  
 
 Notice of all board meetings is required as usual (see § 406). When the public may attend 
via remote methods, notice must include the means by which the public may access the meeting 
remotely, and a location for the public to attend in person (except in case of an emergency).  
 
 A board must make all documents and materials to be considered by the board available, 
electronically or otherwise, to the public who attend remotely to the same extent customarily 
available to the public who attend in person, provided no additional costs are incurred by the 
board. 
 
 All votes during a board meeting using remote methods must be by roll call vote that can 
be seen and heard if using video technology, or heard if using audio technology only, by other 
board members and the public. A board member who participates remotely is considered present 
for purposes of a quorum and voting. 
 

85



 Remote participation is not permitted for town meetings or regional school unit budget 
meetings. 
 
 As we noted above, FOAA’s temporary provision authorizing remote board meetings, 
which does not require adoption of a local policy, remains in effect until July 30, 2021 (see § 
403-A). After that date, boards are not authorized to permit remote participation without first 
adopting a written policy in compliance with the new law (see § 403-B). For a sample remote 
participation policy, see this link: _______________ (By R.P.F.) 

86



Rev. 6/28/2021 

SAMPLE 
 

[This sample policy is provided by MMA Legal Services. It adheres to the requirements of 1 M.R.S. § 
403-B, and may be tailored to meet the needs of individual board/committees. 

  We strongly encourage municipalities to consult their municipal attorney prior to enacting any policy.] 
 

REMOTE PARTICIPATION POLICY 
 

(name of body) 
 

 Pursuant to 1 M.R.S. § 403-B, and after public notice and hearing, the above-named body 
adopts the following policy to govern the participation, via remote methods, of members of the 
body and the public in the public proceedings or meetings of the body. 
 
 Members of the body are expected to be physically present for meetings except when not 
practicable, such as in the case of an emergency or urgent issue that requires the body to meet via 
remote methods, or an illness or temporary absence of a member that causes significant difficulty  
traveling to the meeting location. The chair or presiding officer of the body, in consultation with 
other members if appropriate and possible, will make a determination that remote methods of 
participation are necessary in as timely a manner as possible under the circumstances. A member 
who is unable to attend a meeting in person will notify the chair or presiding officer of the body 
as far in advance as possible. 
 
 Remote methods of participation may include telephonic or video technology allowing 
simultaneous reception of information and may include other means necessary to accommodate 
disabled persons. Remote participation will not be by text-only means such as e-mail, text 
messages, or chat functions. 
 
 The public will be provided a meaningful opportunity to attend via remote methods when 
any member of the body participates via remote methods. If public input is allowed or required at 
the meeting, an effective means of communication between the body and the public will also be 
provided. The public will also be provided an opportunity to attend the meeting in person unless 
there is an emergency or urgent issue that requires the entire body to meet using remote methods. 
 
 Notice of all meetings will be provided in accordance with 1 M.R.S. § 406 and any 
applicable charter, ordinance, policy, or bylaw. When the public may attend via remote methods, 
notice will include the means by which the public may access the meeting remotely and will 
provide a method for disabled persons to request necessary accommodation to access the 
meeting. Notice will also identify a location where the public may attend the meeting in person. 
The body will not restrict public attendance to remote methods except in the case of an 
emergency or urgent issue that requires the body to meet using remote methods of attendance. 
 
 The body will make all documents and materials to be considered by the body available, 
electronically or otherwise, to the public who attend remotely to the same extent customarily 
available to the public who attend in person, provided no additional costs are incurred by the 
body. 
 

87



Rev. 6/28/2021 

 All votes taken during a meeting using remote methods will be by roll call vote that can 
be seen and heard if using video technology, or heard if using audio technology only, by other 
members of the body and the public. A member of the body who participates remotely will be 
considered present for purposes of a quorum and voting. 
 
 This policy will remain in force indefinitely unless amended or rescinded. 
 
 
Dated: _________________    Signed: ___________________________ 
 
         ___________________________ 
 
         ___________________________ 
 
         ___________________________ 
 
         ___________________________ 
          
 
         
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

88



Chapter 21 – Remote Participation Policy 

 
Section 1 – Purpose Statement 

Section 2 – Adoption of Remote Participation 

Section 3 – Permissible Reasons for Remote Participation 

Section 4 – Procedures for Remote Participation 

Section 5 – Minimum Requirements for Remote Participation 

Section 6 – Acceptable Methods of Remote Participation 

 
 

 

89



REMOTE PARTICIPATION POLICY 

City of Caribou, Maine 
 

This Remote Participation Policy is intended to establish guidelines on the practice of remote 
participation by members of the City of Caribou’s public bodies.  

 

1. Purpose Statement 

Maine law (Title 1 M.R.S. § 403-B) allows members of public bodies, in limited circumstances, 
to participate remotely in public meetings.  While all members of the City’s public bodies should 
endeavor to attend meetings in person, the law seeks to promote greater participation in 
government meetings by allowing members to participate remotely when physical attendance is 
not practical. 

 

2. Adoption of Remote Participation 

This Policy is adopted in accordance with 1 M.R.S. § 403-B and the Caribou City Charter.  

This Policy applies to all public bodies of the City of Caribou that are subject to the Maine Freedom 
of Access Act’s (1 M.R.S. §§ 400 et seq.) public meeting requirements, including the following: 
City Council; Planning Board; Board of Assessors; Zoning Board of Appeals; and all committees 
and subcommittees, whether such public bodies are appointed or elected.    

Where this Policy is more stringent than 1 M.R.S. § 403-B, this Policy shall control.  

 

3. Permissible Reasons for Remote Participation 

Members of all public bodies are expected to be physically present for public meetings, except 
when being physically present is not practicable.  Circumstances in which physical presence for 
one or more members is not practicable may include, but is not necessarily limited to, the 
following: 

A. Illness, other physical condition or temporary absence from the jurisdiction of the 
body that causes a member of the body to face significant difficulties traveling to and 
attending in person at the location in the notice under 1 M.R.S. § 406; and 

B. The existence of an emergency or urgent issue that requires the public body to meet 
by remote means. 

It is the express desire of the City Council that remote participation in meetings be an infrequent 
event, for both individual board members and the City’s public bodies as a whole.  Chairs of public 

90



bodies shall interpret this Policy strictly and their decision to allow or not to allow remote 
participation shall be final and shall not be appealable. 

 

4. Procedures for Remote Participation 

Any member of a public body who wishes to participate remotely shall, at least 24 hours or as 
soon as reasonable possible prior to the meeting, notify the Chair (or the Chair’s designee) and 
staff assigned to support the public body of his or her desire to do so and the reasons and facts 
supporting the request. 

A. Notice of the meeting must be provided in accordance with 1 M.R.S. § 406 and the 
Caribou City Charter.  When authorized under law or this Policy to attend by remote 
methods, said notice must include the means by which members of the public may access 
the meeting using remote methods.  The notice must also identify a location for members 
of the public to attend in person.  The public body may not determine that public attendance 
at a meeting will be limited solely to remote methods, except in circumstances where the 
public body must meet by remote methods. 

B. Prior to the meeting the Chair shall make every effort to ensure the equipment is 
available and function properly.  If the required equipment is not available, then the Chair 
shall deny the request for remote participation. 

C. At the start of the meeting, the Chair shall announce the name of any member who 
will be participating remotely.  This information shall be recorded in the meeting minutes. 

D. All votes taken during any meeting in which a member participates remotely shall 
be by roll call vote that can be seen and heard if using video technology, and heard if using 
only audio technology, by the other members of the public body and the public. 

E. A member participating remotely for an executive session shall affirm at the start 
of such session that no other person is present and/or able to hear the discussion at the 
remote location and that the session is not being remotely recorded by any device. 

F. A member of the public body who participates in a public meeting by remote 
methods is present for purposes of a quorum and voting. 

 

5. Minimum Requirements for Remote Participation 

A. Except when an emergency or urgent issue requires the public body to meet by 
remote means, at a minimum, the person authorized to chair the meeting shall be physically 
present at the meeting. 

B. Members of the public must be afforded a meaningful opportunity to attend by 
remote methods when members of the public body participate by remote methods, and 

91



reasonable accommodations may be provided when necessary to provide access to 
individuals with disabilities. 

C. If the public body allows or is required to provide an opportunity for public input 
during the meeting, then an effective means of communication between the members of 
the body and the public must be provided. 

D. The public body shall make all documents and other materials considered by the 
public body available, electronically or otherwise, to the public who attend by remote 
methods to the same extent customarily available to members of the public who attend the 
meetings of the public body in person, as long as additional costs are not incurred by the 
public body. 

E. Members of the public body who participate remotely and all person present at the 
meeting location shall be clearly seen and heard if using video technology, and clearly 
heard if using only audio technology, by the other members of the public body and the 
public. 

 

6. Acceptable Methods of Remote Participation 

A. Telephone, internet, or satellite-enabled audio or video technology allowing 
simultaneous reception of information and may include other means when such means are 
necessary to provide reasonable accommodation to a person with a disability. 

B. Any other technology that enables the remote participant and all persons present at 
the meeting location to be clearly audible and, if possible, clearly visible to all persons 
present at the meeting location. 

C. Public meetings shall not be conducted by text-only means, such as e-mail, text 
messages, or chat functions. 

D. The public body shall determine which of the acceptable methods may be used by 
its members. 

E. If technical difficulties arise as a result of utilizing remote participation, then the 
Chair should suspend discussion while reasonable efforts are made to correct any problem 
that interferes with the remote participant’s ability to hear or be heard clearly by all persons 
at the meeting location.  If technical difficulties result in a remote participant being 
disconnected from the meeting, that fact and the time at which the disconnection occurred 
and subsequent reconnection, if achieved, shall be noted in the meeting minutes. A remote 
participant who is unable to reconnect shall be noted as absent. 

92



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, Interim City Manager 
Date:   09/17/2021 
Re:   Consent Agreement with Troy Haney for Kacie’s Place Campground 

  

The Caribou City Council held a special meeting on Tuesday September 14 with members of the 
Caribou Planning Board and Troy Haney, owner and developer of Kacie’s Place Campground 
which is proposed for Map 38 Lot 108 in Caribou. At the meeting, it was decided to enter into a 
consent agreement with Mr. Haney. 

The proposed consent agreement is on the following pages for your review. 

93



Consent Agreement  
 

This document constitutes an agreement between Troy Haney of 236 Van Buren Road, Caribou, Maine 04736 
(hereafter referred to as the Landowner) and the City of Caribou, Maine by and through its Municipal Officers 
(hereafter referred to as City of Caribou) for the purpose of enforcing and resolving violations of the City's 
Zoning and Land Use Ordinance. 
 
Both the Landowner and the City of Caribou agree as follows: 
 
Whereas, The Landowner has proposed a campground development abutting the Aroostook River with a 
25’ setback from the B&A Railroad ROW and 5400 square foot campsite with a 60’ width on land he owns 
located on Limestone Street, Tax Map 38 Lot 108; and, 
 
Whereas, such activity constitutes a violation of Section(s) 13-700 6 (A) (1) & (5) of the Caribou City 
Ordinance; and, 
 
Whereas, the Caribou Planning Board is unable to approve the site design review application until the 
Planning Board and Caribou City Council can update the zoning ordinance to mirror the campground 
requirements found in state statute; and, 
 
Whereas, Section 13-120 (G) of the Caribou City Ordinance authorizes the municipal officers to initiate 
legal action to enforce the Ordinance by obtaining a court order requiring the landowner to pay a fine, or issue a 
Stop Work order; and, 
 
Whereas, the City and Landowner have been cooperating with each other to reach an out of court 
settlement. 
 
Now, therefore, the City of Caribou and the Landowner agree as follows: 
 
1. The Landowner agrees voluntarily to obtain a storm water management plan and boundary survey by 
December 1, 2021 and conform to all campground development criteria and standards going forward. 
 
2.  The City of Caribou agrees to relinquish its right to prosecute the Landowner for violating the Caribou 
City Ordinance while the Planning Board and City Council work to update the local ordinance in consideration 
of the Landowner's promise to obtain a storm water management plan and boundary survey by the agreed upon 
deadline and ongoing conformance with campground development criteria and standards going forward.  
 
EXCEPT THAT, if the Landowner breaches the terms of this agreement by failing to obtain a storm water 
management plan and boundary survey by the agreed upon deadline, the City of Caribou then may institute 
appropriate court proceedings to enforce the provisions of the Ordinance. 
 
Accepted and dated at:  Caribou Municipal Building, 25 High St., Caribou, Maine 04736 
     
On this date: September 20, 2021  
 
PROPERTY OWNER: 
     
 
 
By: __________________________________________, Troy Haney 

                Page 1 of 2 94



 
Page 2 of 2 

 
   
MUNICIPAL OFFICERS OF THE CITY OF CARIBOU 
 
 
BY: __________________________________, Mayor 
  Jody Smith 
 
 __________________________________, Deputy Mayor 
  Thomas Ayer 
 
 __________________________________, 
  Joan Theriault 
 
 __________________________________, 
  R. Mark Goughan 
 
 __________________________________, 
  Doug Morrell 
 
 __________________________________, 
  Louella Willey 
 
 __________________________________, 
  Courtney Boma   
 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me, 
in my presence this 
 
September 20, 2021 
 
A Notary Public for the State of Maine 
 
 
________________________________________ 
 Danielle Brissette 
 
My commission expires _______, 20__ 
 
 

95


